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Mc: What -was the year you came t o the Hartford Baptist Church? 

H: 1920. 

Mc : So , it is since th en you' ve been at t he Hartf ord Bapt ist Chur ch ? 

H: That's ri ght. They only had 35 members at that time. 

Mc : So, there've been some chan ges there ? You came in 1920. That -was 

ri ght a fter the close of the first World War . What kinds of a ct iviti es 

did your efforts to improve ra ce conditions consist of in the 20 1s? 

H: Well, in the 20 1s it was primarily the housin g pr oblem becau se this 

was the first area that -was opened to Negr oes come out of the J rd -ward. 

Up to that time all of them were confined there. Foll owing this they 

opened here and when I came here , they couldn't go beyond Warren, Beech­

wood or Tir eman and they couldn't locate too often on the Boulevard . 

And so a s a resu lt , t hey began to pressure to expand a When some of 

the soldiers came from Wor ld War I ,-they had gotten used to larger 

privil eges and so they were makin g a demand and pushing i n orde r 

that they might live where ver they wanted to live. And so the first 

family moved a.bout 10 bl ocks fr om the church, the ot her side of 

Beechwood and, of course, a mob t ri ed to run t hem out. 

Mc : That was in the early 20 1s1 

H: The ear ly 20 ' s , ye s . 

M'c: I see 

H: And as to the family , of cour se, finally th ey bl ocke d and for ced 
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them out and they couldn't rent it at all. It wasn't lo ng , however, 

before others moved in there and they didn't have any trouble at all. 

Mc: Now, in the late JO's when my readin g of some of the newspapers 

started, I saw that you were a member of many committees formed to 

help on the problem. Were there committees in the 20 1 s too, that 

you worked with or how did you attack the problem? 

H: I worked pretty much alone as far as it was concerned. I know many 

of the ministers were a little bit hesitant about speakin g out be­

cause they were afraid that it might cause them to lose their pres­

ti ge with t heir church and because many of the folks were just 

coming from the South and naturally had certain prejudices and hates 

too. I remember when I first took the church, at any time when a 

white citizen came in, they'd ask what business they had here. Why 

don't they go t o their own church? 

Mc: So Negroes were no more happy to receive whites than whites were 

to receive Negroes? 

H: It was the same attitude on both sides. And , I've told them all 

alon g that don't put all the blame on the other side. That you are 

just as much responsible in thinkin g that many times the whites are 

just takin g advantage of you. And there are some among them that 

want to see real decency practiced on the part of all. 

Mc: Now, the JO's one thinks of as the depression years . I expect that 

was a period when there were great losses in every way for the Negro-­

unemployment, housin g , etc. Alon g toward the end of the JO's we were 
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getting into the period of Detroit, ar sen al of defense? 

H: Yeso 

Mc: And that meant many people coming in and the housin g situation 

getting worse all the time? 

H: Yes. It was very bad in those days. Of course, Ford's was the 

first factory that started employin g Negroes, about 10%, but they 

were all in the foundry. Then, of course, he was the first one to 

gi ve $5.00 per day. And that was a bi g wage at that time. And, so 

that's one reason many of them were opposed to the union because some 

of them looked upon Ford as almost being a 11god11 and treating them 

better than any other factory that we had in Detroit. So as a result, 

of course, their attitude was , when I took a sta nd for the uni on 

goin g i nt o Ford's; 100 of the m left my church saying the church had 

no business doin g anything in that area whatsoever. I was happy after 

the CIO won out that most of them came back and admitted that, after all, 

the church ought to be interested in all areas here on earth, as well 

as talkin g about goin g to heaven. Because I used to tell them, "Well, 

if you don't have a little heaven here, you'll create hell over there." 

Mc: I see. Well now, how come you were so convinced that unions, the CIO 

at least, held good for the Negr o? 

H: Well, because the CIO had control of the mines; and they insisted 

that there be no discrimination at all. And I know, I forget who was 

president at that time, said that the Negro takes as much money to 

live a s anyone else. He eats the same food, dresses the same way and 

so he is a human bein g. And so, they pushed through that. Why, of 



course, that helped them to play their part in the mines throughout 

the country. So, that is one reason that I had much faith in the 

CIO--not because they actually practiced what their constitution 

called for. And, so I was interested in the CIO coming in because 

it said, 11If they come in, you would have an opportunity to be 

promoted and to advance. But, if the AFL comes in, they're dis­

criminatin g even now and they'll carry out their same program." And, 

so many of them came to find out that that was so true; and they were 

very happy and have been very devoted to the Ford Local every since . Be­

cause of the stand I took, they made me an honorary member. 

Mc: An honorary member of Local 600? 

H: Yes. 

Mc: ·what were some of the things that you were able to do to help the union 

• ? come in. 

H: Well durin g the stri ke , when they had a large number of ours in the 

plant, whites would come out; and so I went out to the Ford factory and 

I pleaded with them to come out; I told them that they could not afford 

to make any advance by themselves; they had to learn to work with 

other wor kers and that their hope for the future wasn't that they were 

going to be by themselves but rather that they were goin g to be with 

all other workers. 

Mc: Now this would be April, 1941 during the strike? 

H: Yes. 

Mc: "When the Negroes, some of them, were sta J in g in? 

H: That's right. 

Mc: Not really understandi ng what it was all about, so some have told me. 
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H: A good many of them belonged to my church and they had confidence 

in everything "-every stand I took. So, they came out and the others 

followed them. 

Mc: So you were actually out there with a loud speaker, maybe, on the 

picket line? 

H: Yes, a l oud speaker. The union gave me a loud speaker and I could 

talk so that it would carry into th .e factory. So, I told them, 11 Now 

is your hope, for the union wants to help you. But, they can't help 

you unless you take the right stand." Many of them, after they came 

out, thanked me very much for urgin g them to come out. There were 

only two of us , at the most three of our Negro ministers that could 

take a stand. 

Mc: I was goin g to ask you that. You and Canon Dade? 

H: Yes and ••• 

Mc: And Horace White? 

H: Yes. Fr om the Plymouth Congre gational Church. Those were the only 

ones. Because of the strike, the AFi, published a paper in Cleveland 

and brou ght it here every day or so in which they tried to make all 

kinds of accusations against me. But, it didn't get them anywhere 

at all. I'm very sorry thou gh that I have n 't kept any of those papers 

because some of the thin gs they said were ridiculous. 

Mc: We have some copies of them at the Archives. 

H: I see. 

Mc: And, they denounced you personally ? 

H: Yes they did. They said tha t I was bei ng paid to take the stand that 
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I had t ak en and I said to some of the ministers who were influenced 

by the ii.FL, "I challen ge a sin gle one of you to find any evidence any­

where where I got one penny, because I don't do these thin gs for what 

I can get." 

Mc : We're talkin g still about your contacts with your own parishionei ~s 

when the union came and how you helped out. In the days before the 

union came, I believe you loaned the use of your church. 'irJhy was that 

usefulr Why couldn't the union just meet any pl ace? 

H: The reason the union couldn 't meet any place was that if they met in 

a regular union hall, then some of the spies fr om Ford Motor Company 

woul d take their aut omobile license number and they lost their jo bs 

the next day. By holdin g it in church, it would be difficult for them 

to prove that we were just discussin g union matters. And so, as a 

re sult, they got to gether regardless of their race or nationality and 

saw th at what wa,s goi ng to be done would help every one of them. And 

one of the officers of my church--I know th at they threatened to fire 

him if he didn't tay out of the meetin gs. So , when he came he woul dn ' t 

come in his car; he would walk so they couldn't tell. And then after 

the CIO won, why up to tha t time, he was hardly ab le to make enough 

money to pay his rent even thou gh he was doin g a compar ab le jo b where 

whites were gettin g 3 and 4 times more pay . Within six month s after 

the union succeeded in goi ng into Ford's, he was able to accumulate 

enough money to make a down payment on a 2-family flat. And, so he 

had much better conditions; from then on, he was one of the best and 
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most loyal men I had. He got up two or three times on other issues and 

said, "Reveren d here is honest and he is i nte r est ed in helping you and 

s o we ought to support him." He took that stand because a number of 

times, I was accused of bein g a Communi st and I didn't let any name 

keep me from doin g the thin g that I thou ght 7,ias right to help all of 

humanity. 

Mc: After the union came the conditions were much better for the workers 

at Ford. How about women--were they bein g employed? 

H: Not at that time, but durin g World War II, women were able to get into 

Ford's. There were enough men here. So, many had been shipped in 

here from the South, so they had pl enty. But, when the war came, many 

men were drafted; then there were openin gs that only the women could 

fill. 

Mc: What were some of the thin gs you had to do to get the company to 

reco gnize the potential in employin g women? 

H: The only thin g we did was to keep pleadin g with some of their men that 

women could do the work okay if they gave them the opportunity. I said, 

"You ought to t!'iJ a fe w. 11 After tryin g a fe w, of course, they added 

more too. They found that the women could do all of the work that the 

men were doin g so far as that's concerned. 

Mc: Would the Rouge plant be one of the first places that the women were 

,employed in war industry? 

H: I think it is. Yes, I'm quite sure it was the first one. But, of 

course, in employin g women,they kept them in the f oundry where they 

had most of the men. But, as the union grew, then they would insist 



8 

upon a promotio n and openin g up of their departments, and some of 

the women went into other departments also. 

Mc: Were they employin g white women then? Or, were they jus t against 

Negro women or a gainst all women? 

H: I never made a plea for Negro women--I just made it for women. 

He: So women weren 't bein g emplo yed in the early 141; but, by the close 

of 142, they were st a rtin g to put women on the producti on line? 

H: Yes. 

Mc: Now, I'm wondering why you were able--why you were willin g to be more 

independent than many of the other --Negro ministers? 

H: The only reason was I depended completely upon my congre gation where 

some of the other 111inisters--to some of them different business places 

were makin g contributions and, of course, when that happened, they 

would try to dictate what to do. I told them that, when we were 

buildin g our buildin g , that we were goin g to do it out of our own 

pocket s so we can be free to t8.ke a stand at any ti me for anythin g 

that is ri ght and not have someone say, ".If I had knowr you were going 

to do this, I would not have made this contri bution." So, we had no 

difficulty at all because we did it by ours elves. 

Mc : I've been told that Ford Motor Company--~Ir. Ford-- offered contributions 

to a number of churches, I guess, in order to obli gate them somewhat. 

Did you have to turn do~m. contributions ever? 

H: No, they never came to me because I 1-.ras never one that they could get 

close to. 

Mc: It was plain to them there wouldn't be any use in tryin g that? 
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H: Yes, that's ri ght. 

Mc: I wante d to a sk you in particular about your a ctivi tie s to allow 

Negr oes to go any pla ce that they li ked for housing. We were talkin g 

of the fa ct that the s ituati on got ti ght '<'>r a s Detroit began to pr o­

duce f or defense? 

H: Yes, that's true. They tried to keep them all in the 3rd ward. 

When they got prett y much to gether in th e 3rd ward and were about 

stron g enough t o elect a Negr o to the Comm.on Council , that's when 

the Council 's number i n Detr oit was chan ged. We use d to have a 

42-man Council and then they chan ged to th e nine- man Counci l . That 

was because the Negro was so wel l or ganized and there were so fe w 

whi tes in that 3rd ward that the re was no chance f or a whi t e man to 

be el ected. 

Mc : I s ee. I had known about changin g fr om t he ward system to electin g 

a smaller number, at lar ge, but I didn 't realize that it was con­

nected with the race situation. 

H: Well, I th i nk that's what it was because the y were gett in g stron ger 

then. 
-I•'•' 

Of course, they were beginnin g to push out ~the 3rd ward , ' and 

as I sa i d , this area here was the fir st one in Detroit to open up 

even thou gh i t was li mited to Warren , Beechwood, Ti reman, and the 

Boulev ard here; it wasn 't lon g before one of the first members to 

go beyond Beechwood was out of my congre gati on. They stoned the 

hous e and when I went there, the police said, "Wha t's wrong?" I 

sai d, "You ought to be willin g to give more pr otect io n to the se 

f olks . If it had been me , you woul d not have to worry ab out anyBody 
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being injured." I believe that we ought to have the privilege, at 

le a st to go where we de sire and I lmow that it was an of f icer's wife 

who tk:'.'ew a bri ck at this woman in her bed. She turned around and 

shot a gun and I sai d, "Now you have a gun, whichever way you see a 

br ic k coming, shoot in th at direction, 11 and so she only missed this 

,officer 's wife by a foot. She was arrested and I went down to the 

court and said , "I'm goin g to demand that you release her to me 

because she has no business bein g in jail becau se whe was just pro­

tectin g her home--the police weren't doin g it. I know. 11 I T.rent to 

the police, what is now the McGraw station , but used to be Vinewood 

station and the inspector at that time said, "Don't you know we could 

hire somebody to kill you by your carryin g on this way?" I said, 

11Yes, you would do it, but what do you think we're goin g to dol After 

all, if you start anyth in g li ke that, then I pity any man who wears a 

blue coat and brass buttons." Then he said, "You won't have any more 

troubles. If you have any more difficulties, see me directly." We had 

no more difficulties until about ten or fifteen years later, over on 

American A venue. When one of our undertakers moved in there, he 

asked me if I would support him. I said, "Certainly, whenever you 

move into a place--move there to st ay--not f or yourself, but you ' ll be 

opening the door for others." So, they st ay ed. 

Mc: Was he one of your parishi oners? 

H: No, he was not. 

Mc: But you gave hi m help where it ~Jas needed, nevertheles s? 

H: .AJ:'1.ybody who needed help, who 1rra.s conscientious and sincere, then I 



11 

would help him. It did..11.'t make any difference; I was glad to 

help him. When I went out there, we found a white man who was in 

business on Milford. He was out there in the croiro. tryin g to run 

the m~n out. I came back and had some of t he members to keep any­

body from goin g in there. In two weeks, he had to move out. He 

said to me, "You did not treat me ri ght." I said, "You had no 

business out there tryin g to keep th a t family from goin g in there 

and if th at's the v.iay you feel, th en you have no business havi ng 

a store in an are a th at's 100% Negro." He moved out and never came 

back. 

Mc: Now, the case I've always heard about is the Sweet Case. Was that 

before or after these two happenings that you described? 

H: That was before. After the Sweet Case, in many of these areas they 

would get these restrictions--try to prevent the whites, even if they 

·wanted to sell--to sell to Negroes. It w-asn't until a fter the cour t's 

decisio n t hat out l awed r es t rict io ns th at they were ab le t o go i nt o 

all ar ea s. 

Mc : The Sweet Case was on the ea st s i de ? Most of t hese were nea r by ••• 

H: Yes. But , t he ef f ect was a l l over. Dr. Turner moved on Spokan I 

tried to tell him if he wanted help, : to let me know. But, he depended 

upon the doctors because he was in Harper Hospit a l and he was the only 

Negro doctor i n any of the hospita l s. 

Mc: On the st aff ? 

H: Yes. He though t the doctors would protect him because one of them 

lived next door. He t r ied to move t her e i n th e afte r noon; by ni ght , 
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they had him back on Warren again. 

Mc: The Turner Case was before the Sweet Case, wasn 't it? 

H: No, followin g the Sweet Case. 

Mc: I have read of your activities with the Sojourner Truth episode; 

that would be in the early 40 1s, wouldn't it ? 

H: Yes. 

He: What was that situation? 

H: That was a situation where the government was trying to build a 

home for Negr oes out near 6- Mile Road. They put a si gn up 'Sojourner 

Truth ' and it wa.s in a strictly Polish neighborhood. At first, the 

Poles thought that Sojourner Truth wa.s a Polish woman. Then, when they 

found out that she was a Negro woman, they tore the signs down and did 

everything they ~ould to prevent it. I had to go from here to Wash­

in gton every two or three days to meet different sen at ors and different 

groups there for almost a month. Then J"effries, when they tried 

moving i n, he wouldn't let them in at al L Then we a sked the govern­

ment to send the soldiers to let them go i n. They sent one man from 

Washin gton to ask me to change my mind. He said, "If you do that, we 

viill bui ld many homes." I said, !~NO. I'm not going to agre e with 

you. You started it for Negroes, so I'm goi ng to insist that they 

go into it. Then , after they are in it a while, if they want to 

in t egrate it, that vtlll be perfectly okay. :3ut, you had no business 

starting it just for Negroes." They offered me $25,000 if I woul d 

change my .mind. 

Mc : Who offered you $25 , 000? 
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I-I: I don't rememJer--a representative from Washington. He said he 

came here fro m the flr esident . I said, 11What can I do ·vv-ith $25,0 00? 11 

He sa id, 1 Jell, you can go to Hawa.ii. 11 I said , "You mean, I ' m goin g 

to le @ve all my friends here jus t to go there . Wel l, you ' re mistaken; 

I've been honest with them. I' m not goin g to betray them now." He 

said, "Well , you ' re not goin g to live in the building." I sa i d , 

"That's true. But , I ' m not in t erested i n myself . I' m interested 

in helpin g others who want to live i n the pro j ect . 11 He even went t o 

Rev. Crane , who was a very good friend of mine at th at time. He was 

the only one of the white ministers that took a definite stand and 

put it i n the church paper and spoke out from hi s pulpit. He went 

to Henry Crane to have him approach me and have me change my mind. 

Crane to ld him, "He doesn 't chan ge th a t way and I can 't cha nge him 

even if I wanted to, and I don't want to. 11 He was the one who 

publ ished the information about the pro jec t i n his church paper and 

a.sked anyone who could to help i n the situation. 

Mc : How was the Sojou rner Truth episode finally reso lved? 

H: The army sent soldiers here and the Negr oes moved i nto i t . Once 

they moved in, they didn ' t have any diff icul ty whatsoever. 

Mc: That was just a litt le while before the June, 1943, race riot, wasn't 

i t? 

H: Yes, they had a riot t here even. 

Mc: At Sojou rner Truth? 

H: Yes. That 's the re a son we ca lled on the so l diers beca use the police 

would not pr ote ct them. When the soldiers came th ere, they wouldn't 
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let these pull to gether at all. Some of the meetin gs that the Pol es 

had were in the Cath olic church and that made a good many of the 

f olks anti-Cath olic. They fe lt the church should not use its facili­

ties aga i nst another group. 

Mc : Shortly after you got the Sojourner Truth episode straightened out, 

I thiru{, according to the thin gs I was readin g, there was this matter 

of housin g defense workers out at Willow Run? 

H: Yes. 

Mc: You worked on that committee t oo, didn't you? 

H: I worked with them. That's out in Ypsilanti, but they didn't have 

too much difficulty there. 

Mc : You just held stron g and it wasn 't so lon g bef ore Negroes were 

allowed to come there? 

H: Yes, they were allo wed. Many of the m were soldiers. In the end, 

they demanded the ri ght to have part of the pr oject and , of course, 

one area was given to them, but, now, they li ve all over the area. 

Mc: Well, now, have there been other dramatic episodes si nce then as 

regards housin g, I mean, lots of move-i ns, etc., where you've had 

a hand? 

H: There were different a reas where when one would move in, the mob 

would try to run them out. Afte r I would talk to them and tell the~, 

"Don't become frighten ed. " Because after all, I remember when I 

moved here, .,one of the parties said, 11You can't live here." I 

said, "No, but I can die here. 11 I got ready to move--I was livin g 

on Hartf ord at that time and I told the movers ••• It took two vans; 
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both came t oget her, so we coul d move everyth i ng at one time. I 

had seve n children at that time and I told th em a ll to just play 

in the yard; don't go to th e nei ghbors and crea te any problems at 

all. Within t wo years, th e nei ghbors became very friendly. 

J\fo: When ·was this? 

H: That was i n 1941. 

Mc : That you moved here to 1916 West Grand? 

H: Yes, Gwen was j us t one year old. We never had any trouble at all, 

except, I remember one of t he white nei ghbors ••• It happened to be 

snowin g like everythin g and I was out there shovelin g snow. She sa i d, 

'~Jell, I didn't make it sn ow, did you? 11 And, I said , 11No. 11 That was 

the first tim e she spoke to us in "t,wo years. 

Mc : So , you were compl etely surrounded by white nei ghbor s ? 

H: Yes. 

Mc : It to ok about that len gth of time for the barri ers to br eak down? 

H: That 's ri ght. 

Mc : I have read of sever al place s where it seemed to me the Federal 
\., 

Public Housi ng Commission was tryi ng to br~de the Negroes int o not 

holding out for housin g pr oj ect s in f ormerly white area s. Was that one 

of those areas up on Ei ght Mile? 

H: Yes, that is true. The government was not willing to take a stand 

becaus e we could or ganize th e group to gether and one thin g , we had 

some very liberal white s with us. We were never purely Negroes. 

There were many of the li beral whites who would take a st and and 
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sometimes they would go in and buy the place and let us go i n and 

help out that way. 

Mc: I never introduced the other person in our taping session, Mrs. Hill. 

I would jud ge that she must have shown a good deal of coura ge when 

her husband's life was threatened, etc. Was that somethin g that 

happened every once in a while? 

Mrso H: It kept me concerned and somewhat worried. Espe cially when you 

have a family you worry ab out, 110h, what would happen if I have to 

raise this family by myself?" I don't know to what particular in­

cident you are referrin g . 

Mc: No, I'm just referrin g, in gener al, to the threats that he must have 

received. 

Mrs. H: The first time when the riot was on, they had thrown a roc k 

in t o the car, you know the color th at my husband is, medium, so 

people evidently thou ght he was someone else. He was drivin g a 

Packard and when they threw the rock into the car after the car 

stopped they said, 110h, ray God, we got the wrong man." But he was 

able to come to and drive on home with a great big hic ky on the 

back of his head about the size of an .orange . 

Mc: I was goin g to ask if you , a t any time , had you suffered physical harm? 

So, there is an instance. 

H: Well, th a t was the first one, and the boy who threw the rock said, 

"I'll drive you home . " I sa id, "No, I'm okay, but you ought to stop 
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thr owing rocks; th er e are a lot of good white s who will be coming 

throu gh here to loo k over the area, and you're not hel pin g the situ ati on ." 

A peculiar thin g, when I came on the east si de, - white area --th ey threw 

rocks a t me; so I got them fr om both sides. 

Mc : This was in the June 143 riots ? 

H: Yes. 

Mc : You had quite a hand i n in vest i gat in g the causes of th e riots and 

taking a st and-afterward s ? 

H: Yes. I was on the fir st interr acial committee May or Jeffries had. 

Our committee consi sted of five whi te s and f ive Negroes. They had 

two very liberal whites. We contended and requested fiv e different 

time s for a grand jury to investi gate so that they would find the 

truth that the Negroes di d not s tart the riot, but actu a lly the polic e 

did; Jeffries was so mad because we.would n ' t chan ge that he dismissed 

us without even announcin g it. 

Mc : The whole committee was dismissed? 

H: Yes, the whole committee, every one of the m. The committee was renamed-­

then it was the Mayor's Inter-Racial Committee -- and they changed the 

name t o somethin g else , Commissio n on Community Rela tions. 

Mc: This entir el y new committee was app ointed aft er the ori ginal ten were 

dismis se d? 

H: Yes . 

·Mc : I never did underst and just how that evolved t o this day . Do you 

find that the a tt i tude of the police ha s chang ed a great dea l from 

th ose days till the pres e12t time? 
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H: Yes, a whol e lot. I think many of t he police at that time were 

from .the South. They said th a.t we know how to handle a Negro a s 

to bruta lity. I took part in many of th e cases where there was 

police brutality--just deliberate shooti ngs , etc. Fin ally the 

commissioners began t o tell the pol ic e to be careful what they do; 

then they chan ged the type of men they put on the force. At that 

time, they did not have t o have an education of high school and 

colle ge, like they do now. If he was from the South, he could get 

on the f orce. 

Mc: No wonder there were all kinds of fricti ons and violence. I didn't 

really know that. 

Rev. Hill , I hav e been interested in your record in political campaign s. 

You ran for Common Council more than once? 

H: Six times. Almost every one of those times, some liberal whites 

would run wit h me. Take Jud ge Edwards , we r an twice but what I 

found out in many ca ses was that .when he came to Negro groups, he 

would lift me very high; but he was very quiet when he went to white 

groups . That is what happened in so many cases. The papers were 

very vicious durin g that time . 

Mc: The News and the Free Press? 

H: Yes, they were very vicious. They put out all sorts of rumors. In 

many cases, they said that I w-a.s a Communist and that the Communists 

were supportin g me. I told them, 1~Jhen I'm run.~in g for office, I 

don't ca.re who supports me. It isn ' t that they're goin g to dictate 
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to me what I should do. Everyone who runs for office wants to get 

every vote he can." I said, "The reason they want t o accuse me of 

being a Communist was to discoura ge some o:f the folks." I said, "No 

one can be a, preacher (at that time, I had been in my church 25 or 30 

years, pa stor of the same people) and grow, if he were a Communist." 

You feel that your ·various campai gns helped to pave the way for 

eventu al elections of Negroes to the Common Council? 

H: Yes, to Cormnon Council and even to judgeships. I ran, one year, for 

the Congress. 

He : Oh, you did? I didn't realize that ,. So you're run not just for the 

Common Council but for other posts? 

H: I came very close to bein g elected to Congress. That was in this 

district here. 

Mc : Now, do you feel that, because you ran, a lo t of your friends who 

otherwise would not have registered perhaps, or taken part in politics, 

became act ive in politics ? 

H: Yes. Each time, the second time I ran, there were over 100,000 Negroes 

registered. Each year they kept on increasin go At one time some of 

the churches said, 11We don't bother that way-- we le ave to the Lord." 

I sa id, "The Lord is n 't coming down here to vote for you; you've got 

to vote for yourself." Now, I don't know o:f a sin gle church th at is 

not willin g to play its part in these elections. 

Mc: Aside from the fact that many of the churches didn't support the unions, 

perhaps because they'd received money from Ford, have many of the churches 

not taken an active part in social welf are and betterment of the Negro? 

H: Most of them are doin g a little somethin g a lon g that line. 
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l{c: But not real active as you always have been? 

H: They are not always active because they sometimes wonder whether 

people would believe in social welfare. Anytime a pers on ac cep ts 

leadership, he has got to have the courage of his convictions. If 

he will have the coura ge of his convictions, he will keep on and 

ulti mately find that there are many others willin g to join. But, 

t hey just won't believe it. 

Mc: Rev. Hill, I've oft en heard people say that you can judge a man by 

his f amily. Let 's hear a bout your famil;;r. 

H: Hy family--it all depends on who is doin g the jud gin g. In the case 

of my oldest son, when they put him out of the Air Force beca use of 

the stand that I had tal{en:-they accused me of bein g a Communist--he 

wrote a le tter to the press statin g that he could not dictate to his 

dad, and th at his dad was not governed by him. We got enough pressure 

on it and they finally dropped the char ge completely, but he never was 

allo wed to go back to Selfridge Field to fly a gain . 

Mc: Was this at the hei ght of the McCarthy difficulties in the early 

50 's? 

H: .A little before tha.t.,--before McCarthy had become so prominent. 

He: How many children do you have in all? 

H: We have eight children. Four boys and four girls and twenty-two 

grandchildren. 

Mc: Where are those childrne now? 

H: They are all in Detroit, except one of the grandchildren, and not a 

sin gle one of them has been any problem to society. 
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He: Are they stron g fie;hter s in the caus e of race rela tio ns? In good 

soci al conditions for a ll ? 

H; They believe in inter grat i ng in every way. All throu gh high school, 

they had many white friends and I know when they used to come here, 

they would brin g them with them, t o different par ties. They have no 

preju dices of anJr k:'i.nd. 

Mrs. Hill: I woul d like t o menti on this : in the very early day s , when 

Dear born was much worse than i t is now, thr ough the church and our 

children, and the mini ster, Rev. Owen Gear i n Dearb orn, and our church 

had a very fine rel at ionship. They would get to gether fr equently on 

Sundays and they woul d exchange . They would come to us one Sunday 

ni ght and give a pr ogr am and pl ay af t erwards , then we woul d go to 

them an other Sunday ni ght , give a pr ogram and play af te rward s and sort 

of dance to gether. I n fa ct, Rev. Gear had a son , Wesle y, the same 

a ge as my Wesley and a dau ghter, Roberta, the same age as my Robert a; 

but Owen Gear is gone. However, we fe lt that was one of the first 

instances of showin g any inter- racial rel at io nship between Dearb orn and 

us. 

H: Durin g the housin g situ at i on, I met some pe ople out in Dearborn who 

use to live on Tireman . They sai d , '~le sold our pl ace; Negroes made 

it go d:own. 11 I said , "You'v e made a mis take. I'll make an investi­

gation; I'll come back here next week and give you a report and let 

you see how you were cheated." The real estate man had gone to her 

and t ol d her if she didn't sell her pr operty , when Negroes moved in, 

the value would ~o down, so she sold it f or $5,000. The Negro family 
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who bought it paid $9,000. When I went be.ck to her I said, "You see 

how you were cheated? The family who is livin g in your house now 

paid $9,000o The real estate men e:re misleadin g many of you becau se 

Negroes, no more than anyone else, cause property to depreciate," and 

so she became one of the fine workers f or inte grat iono When I bought 

this place, they wouldn't sell it to a Negro and I had to get a Polish 

man to come and get it for me. 

Mc: So, that's how you were able to purchase it? 

H: Yes. In f a ct, this Polish man brou ght it in his name and then he 

turned it over in my name. He sa id t o me--I had never met him before-­

"I like you; if you want the pl ace, I'll get it for you providin g you 

promise that you won' t let it come to me--becau se I don't want it. 11 

I sa.:.d I would..YJ.'t buy it if I didn't want it. He bought it for me; 

we had a fine rel ationship a ll along. 

Mc: I believe the ot her time I was here you told me ab out the place where 

you spend your summers. You'd done a little good in the fie ld of 

race relations there too ? 

H: Yes. I took one of the dentists here, a white dentist, asked him 

to go up and get the place for me--he and his wife--askecl. them to go 

up and get the place f or me. 11See what it is and if you think , I'd 
J 

like it, get it. 11 It was a place 80 fee t wide and 900 feet lon g from 

Hwy 25 to Lake Hurr'on. The wife went up there, liked it real well and 

put $20 dow..r1 as a dovm payment to hold it until the followin g Monday. 

We had Geor ge Crockett's law firm to handle it. They didn't know 

th at we were colored. His wif e sa id , "Rev. Hill, had it been anybody 
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el s e but you, I would have taken that lot myself becau se I really 

l ik ed it." I said, 11I am glad you are as loyal and devoted a s you 

are, and you can come and visit whenever you want to; we'll be gl ad 

t o have you. 11 The f ol ks who lived in th at block, Williams I:nn~ up 

there held a mass meet i ng to ru n me out . We didn't find tha t out 

until after we were there. They even had called the FBI. They sa id 

they didn't want a:ny Communists here . The FBI man told them I was no 

Com..munist and th a t they had no rec ord of any kind and t hey t hey'd 

better not bother me because I didn't run. "He stays where he is. 11 

And now th os e f ol ks are the best frie nds I've got up there. 

Mc : Have you f ound any chan ge in the att itude of the pe ople near your 

summer cotta ge? 

Y1rs . H: Yes. When we firs t went there, we noticed that they seemed t o 

re sen t us. Even when I would go to the dru g store , they ah Jays gave 

us what we wanted, but it seemed as if they did not want to touch 

our hands. They'd drop the money i n our hand so We'd get a littl e 

odd feelin g but afterward they fou nd out tha t we dressed a s wel l as 

they dressed and we ate th e same thin g and our place looked a s nice 

a s theirs and better. Through the man at Presbyterian Church, they 

see med to begin to ac cept us beca use we went to church . When we 

went , we a l ways had two r ows full of family. They'd say, "Here comes 

the whole Hi ll family. 11 They have a very nice rel atio nsh ip now • . He 

prea ched there a t the Presbyterian Church; our choir sang 0 

Mc : I believe you told me that you exchanged ministers? Do you exchan ge 

pulpits with the minister from that ar ea? 
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H: Yes. We met this man at my 46th anniversary last November-- Miller. 

Mc: Rev. Hill, I've been lookin g throu gh some of this materi a l tha t you 

have a sse mbled. Looks to me as if it's re al interesting. I'd just 

like to know a little bit more ab out it. You have some pictures. 

I wonder if you can tell me a little bit more ab out the pictures. 

H: Some of these pictures have to do with some of the children and the 

adults th a t we had to deal with and als o li ke Sonny Edwards, both 

his children and th e position th at he took becaus e Sonny Edwards was 

somewhat cooperat iv e and a s a result, of course, pi ctures were taken 

and thes e a re a, few that happen t o be on hand now. It takes in many 

are as especially ar ound Sojou rner Truth when we had the ear ly stru ggle 

to get open housin g for our folks. As a result of th a t stand and 

fi n.ally 1:rd .mrl.n g out throu gh cooper atio n of the gover-11ment , throu gh 

the a rmed f orces , better days be gan to be experienced here in Detroit. 

Mc : These would be after your demonstr a tion 11w.rch in Apri l, 191+2. There 

1-ms a near riot the re a t the projec t ? 

H: Yes, there was a riot. 

I-~c: Some of these apparently are that. 

H: Yes, th at ' s what it is and Sonny Ed·wards is the pr oto gr a pher; he might 

have some of those. 

He : h, he mi ght have some more pic t ures ? 

H: Yes. 

He : I se e . I'm goin g to make cont i,ct with hi m. Now, I notic a handoi 1 

here , a very vicio us one I would th in k . What was the occa sio n for 

this? 
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H: This is where they were opposin g the Sojourner Truth--put out by the 

Polish e,nd so t_1ere wa s a united effort t u come to Nevad a and Fenelon. 

"Sunday and i.-Ionday, we need your help." ~Je wanted to prevent , in 

rna:ny ca ses , our folks goin g there to see what the buildin gs were 

like, etc. 

i·fo : And this picture of Sojourner Truth, what was this? 

H: We used this a t various meetin gs we had a t my church. This was 

used, a lso, so t hat a ll who were re a lly interested in the Sojourner 

Truth could buy one of these and wha tever was benefited from it help 

in that stru ggle. 

Mc: 1-Jas th a t your chief source of inco me for these different brochures 

t ha t you issued? 

H: .Well, th at was one of them. We met almost every week at th at time 

a t what 't'78.S then the Y'vJCA on Eliz ab eth and St . Anto ine. There we would 

ah mys lift a collection a skin g every body to give whatever they could 

so we took advant e.ge of everythin g because of r ailro ad f a res goin g to 

1.-Jashin gton. 

He : I wondered ab out t h.2.t. You sa id you were a commuter to Washin gton 

several ti mes a week. 

H: Yes . Bein g the head of the Sojourner Truth structure, everyti me any 

department in Washin gton wanted information, they expected me to go. 

Since I was pa storin g the church, I could get away a lot easier than 

some of the fo lks workin g in the f a ctories. 

He: It's in the same connnection that you have letters here that were sent 

to enator Diggs and a l etter f rom Thur good Harsh all and to Sena tor 
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Robert Reyn lds. He was a southern Senat or, wasn 't he? You were 

askin g that he come out in favor · of the O •• ? 

H: All of them, whatever they could do for this Sojourner Truth , because 

some of them were chan gi..YJ.g their att i tudes. What happened in that case, 

many of us may not know, was re ally the Polish thou ght Sojourner 

Truth was a Polis h woman. As soon as the y found out that she was a 

Negro woman, they tore dowi1 the si gn. Then there was that struggle to 

get the Congressmen to t ak e a definite stand. After all, the war was 

goin g on then and the Negro youth had to go in and fi ght the same as 

anyone else. They were tryin g to give freedom abr oad when we needed 

freedom at home. Theref ore, there should not be any discrimination 

on the part of the gove:::-nment providin g horn.es for the needy. 

Mc: You have a very forceful letter here to President Roosevelt dated 

August 29, 1942. 

H: Yes, I tr ied to get him to take a st and to eliminate the discrimination 

that there was in railroad cars. At that time, Negr oes could only go 

in cert a in cars and so I said, "Now si nce you are fi ghtin g for freedom 

for eve!'iJbody at this time, you coul d be like one or two of the other 

pr esi dents--you could t ake a st and th at would help to really advance our 

country so we would n 't be criticised in some areas because of the way 

we tre at somebody; and not only Negr oes but some of the foreign born 

ones who were havin g terrific trouble at that time. So I said, "You 

ought to take a stand and make everyone feel that as lon g as they're 

got the price, they can use a ll the facilities there were . 11 

Mc: I noticed in some of the ot her corres pondence there was communic at ion 
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from the .American Council for the Forei gn Born. You apparen t ly 

made that effort for all, not just for Negroes? 

H: No, f or everybody. I was a member of the Committee for Foreign 

Born. · That's when I went befoyie the un- American Committee: they 

wanted to know why I was takin g a stand for the fore i gn born. I 

said, ' 'Well, injustice to anybody is going to affect everybody. 11 I 

reminded them that they were deportin g some because they belon ged to 

the Communist Party. At that time the Communist Party was on the 

ballot and I remember two or three times a Communist runnin g for 

president of our country. No one should be condemned for bein g a 

100,rt of somethin g that was acc eptable years ago. I said, "When you 

mistreat some of us, and here you are ta l kin g about other countries; 

when you send somebody back to a country that he hadn't been in for 

years, he cert ainly isn't goin g to carry a friendly messag e a t all. 

You won't help America in the forei gn f:i:elds under t hose condi ti ons." 

Mc: I not iced a very interestin g exchang e of correspondence with the 

Detroit Bible Institute. The man who was quotin g from the Bible ••• 

H: Yes, trying to show that I wasn't justified in taking a st and par tic­

ul arly i n the Sojourner Truth and the only white minister who was 

able to t ak e a definite stand ~as Henry Hitt Cr ane who was then at 

the Central Methodist Chur ch . He told me one or two men who gave 

l ar ge contr i but io ns sa id, 11If you don't stop that, we' r e goi ng to 

le ave. 11 One of them did le ave, but Henry Cr an e had the cour ag e of 

his convictions and na s had it on all issues. 

Mc: Di d they event ually come back to his church a s they di d to yours? 
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H: I don't know. Of the ones who made l a r ge contributions, one j oined 

a church out in Grosse Pointe. Some of the ot hers , I don ' t know how 

many, came back. He not only spoke on it ; he carried it in his booster. 

Mc: I was interested i n a daily news bulle t in, the Soj ourner Truth Daily 

News th at came out for a re a l short period of time. What was the 

occasion for tha tr 

H: That was to inform all who gathered at our meeting every week or two. We 

would have a meeting on Sunday and give the i nf ormation as to what 

progres s had been made and what were the real problems. 

Mc: We think that our demonstrations are a rather new device but I ·was 

readin g in your Sojourner Truth Daily News that everyone was being 

ur ged t o come to 11a gi gantic march for democracy next Sunday. tr Wl'lat 

kinds of te chniques did you use then t o ral l y supp ort? 

H: We had differ ent pastors to announce as wel l as putt i ng some of 

those in every church . In some cases we had it in the various dru g 

st ores or bus i ness places of our folks so that if they had anybody 

buyin g anything they would in clude that with t heir goods . I think 

we had 500 or more, not only Negroes , but many whi te s were i n there 

al so maki ng t hat march to try t o get our city t o ta ke a de fini t e 

st and t ha t t his proj ect which was started for Negro es sh ould be fu l ­

filled. 

Mc: One of these bullet i ns makes reference to a Klan attack . Was the 

Black Legion in the Klan? Did it have some power at t hat time? 

H: The Klan did have some folks up this w-a.y. There .-msn't any Black 

Legbn as I remember . A- lot of folk s came fr om the South here durinP-
a 
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the war and , of course, they brought their customs and traditions 

they had there. I said to the police one time that they should not 

let the Klan march anywhere. We finally got Council to pass that 

they couldn't have a robe on and disguise themselves as the Klan 

usually do when th ey put on their uniforms. 

Mc: You have one br ochure here aimed at loyal and patriotic Americ an s 

living near Sojourner Truth home; that was such an area? 

H: That was a Polish area. I had one or two outstandin g Polish leaders 

who were willing to do what they could but ·they didn't seem to have 

much influence. The Poles met in the Catholic church, organized, 

and tried to do everything they could to keep the Negroe s from goi ng 

into Sojour ner Truth. 

Mc: Now, the other materials relate to your campaign in 191+7 that was 

for the Common Council. That was the same ti.me that quite an effort 

was being made to enact FEP in Michigan, wasn 't it? 

H: Yes. All those strug gles at that time ••• You see we couldn't get 

the suppo rt of any of the newspapers at all. The only way we could 

get the literature out was to get into different community meetings; 

there we were able to get the information through. So many times the 

papers came out and said that I was a Communist. At that time, if 

one was branded a Cor~aunist, he lost his jo b and everything - else. 

Mc: I was read in g the Michigan Manual of Freedman I s Progress. I believe 

it was written in 1915 and what it is is a kind of interesting array 

of facts about the Negro as of that year. In it I came on the 

statement that th ere were two cities that didn't have any Negro ghettos, 
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Detroit and Cincinnatio That was in the year 1915 and I'm won­

dering if that was true? Didn't you say that ••• 

H: No, that isn't true because they went on this basis. The 3rd ward 

was the only area in which Negroes could live; from the river all 

the way to Warren. Since all of them lived there, they wouldn't 

call it a ghett o. 

Mc: I see. So, it really didn't mean the same thing as I read into it 

now going back to that statement? 

H: No, n.ot at all. That's the area that they've torn down under this 

urban renewal. To me the urban renewal has caused more trouble be­

cause much of this crime that is going on now is because these people 

have been uprooted, no interest shown to try to relocate them and 

when the parents are disturbed and uprooted, then the children are 

the same. 

Mc: It seems to me, too, that urban renewal has produced more problems 

than it has helped by a long -ways. 

H: I told Mr. Weaver's assistant that they should stop tearing down 

these areas and instead of giving the money to th ese cities, arrange 

to give it to the people whose homes are dilapidated and let them 

bring them up to standard and then they wouldn't be tearing up an 

entire neighborhood. You take in Detroit-~right now it is a terrible 

situation because here they are raisin g the taxes on folks who have 

de ls'cent homes because they've torn dow-n so rnany areas and haven't 

put up anything in their place. 

Mc: I wanted to ask you--maybe you've answered it in a way--what you 
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regard as the grea t est remaining batt le i n the field of race 

re l aJcions? 

H: The housing. If they can get the freedom in housing so that people 

can go where they have the money to go and not go where they're · 

forced to go, I think that would help the city a great deal. That 

means they've got to chan ge the attitude or the thinkin g of people. 

For a lon g while it -was tho ught that Negroes dilapidated pr operty, 

it went dow.(J., which is not true; and they're findin g out it isn't 

true, but you can't chan ge some folks. One reason they can't keep 

the property up the -way you'd like is because the wages they get 

aren't equal to what the othe r man gets. Once the Negro gets t he 

same wage for the same type of work, he has the same desire to keep 

his home up to standard as anyone else . 

Mc: And so, believing that, you have worked always for a union as pro­

tection of the working man and his wages ? I wondered--you 1ve been 

at this game quite a while--when you look back over it, do you see 

any places where you would now have chan ged your emphasis? 

H: 110, I don't. In fact, I ·tell my folks, "Thank God I 1ve li·ved~ 1011.g 

enough to see everythin g we've stru ggled for become a reality. Today 

you're not treatened if you take a stand for open occupa iwy or f or 

jobs for everyone or for trainin g of a ll, etc. Detroit is a better 

city now because of what marzy folks did back there than what it 

would have been if we hadn't taken a stand and started chan ging the 

at titude, the understandi ng of the folks o 

Mc : You thinl< you've had your reward s in this life for the things that 
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you've done? 

H: Yes, very much so. 

Mc: Do you regard Detroit as ahead of some of the other urmn areas in 

this field of race relations J 

H: I don't think it's ahead but I think that there's a relief in one 

way. I've been to many of thes e other cities ·,_that haven't permitted 

the Negro to scatter out like in Detroit. In Detroit Negroes are in 

every area, so, that at lea •st, we've taken advantage of. On the 

other hand, what has happened, some real estate men have boosted 

the price that they wanted for property and I have advised some of 

my folks to spea k to me before they buy. I tell them to let some 

white friend get it for them; they'd get it cheaper, just like I got 

this place--for $7,000., I remember one Negro who tried to get it 

some years bef ore when it was *15,000. They wouTh:ln't even sell it 

to him. I had a Polish man get this place, the same way with my 

cotta ge up near Harbor Beach. They wouldn't sell to Negroes at all. 

I got a doctor to do it and after I was there a year, it was chan ged 

i n rny name. That first year, they tried to get that mob to gethe r to 

run me out • .As I told you, they even had an FBI man and the excuse 

they made was that 11We don 1t want any Communists here. 11 Of course, 

the FBI man said, "Rev Hill is not a Communis t. We don't have any 

proof of any sort and he is not one who will run, so you better 

leave hi m alon~. 11 So, from that day on, we had no more trouble. 

And, now those same folks are as fine friends as I have any place 

else, because they've seen the situation was not true; they thought 

the property would go down af ter we moved in there. They use->to 



33 

brag until I went there, there were no Negroes north of Port Huron. 

I was the first one to do· it and naturaly was th e first one who had 

problems. 

fo: Are t here any words of caution or words of advice you woul d give 

to young people today? 

H: Well, the only advice I'd give to young people is that they'd have 

the courage of the ir conviction and realize that as they struggle 

to help others, they really help themselves. By being selfish, 

in the lo ng run, you don't get the joy and happiness; when you can 

rea li ze impr ovement in the comm.unity or i n the state or in the 

nation, lmowing that you ' ve p~ayed your part and made some sacrifices 

toward them , you ·will be happy for it. And, the young people have 

more inte gration in the schools now so they realize that there ' s 

no diffe rence in pe opl e because of race, creed, color or nationality. 

Therefore, they can lea r-fl. to study and pl ay together in schools, and 

they ought to carry that forth as they become grown adult,s e 

Mc: That is something of the same point , isn't it, that you made at 

the crime conference last Saturday? 

H: Yes . In other words, bec ome more i nvolved . It is easy to criticize 

and to find fault but it takes courage to become involved. And 

realize the best way to correct conditions is to join with those 

who are striving to improve and as you do it from a dedicated position, 

then you are assured that there will be some real benefits that will 

come not ju ·st to yourself but t o other citizens who may not be able 

to do much themselves but who are looking forward for improvement. 



34 

Mc: I wondered if, as you look back on your career, you can pick out low 

points as well as hight poi nts? Did you get discouraged and think it 

was all hopeless sometimes? 

H: No, I never did because I've always had tremendous belief that God is 

concerned and like I tell some folks who feel that they've more sick­

nes s and trouble than someone else , 11Go to some of these jails and 

hosp it als and you'll see some f ol ks that maybe look a lot better than 

you and yet they are havin g burdens." So, you don't become discoura ged; 

there is just a matter of havin g the coura ge and the patience to realize 

that improvements do not happen all at once. It may take sometimes cyears 

to get the improvements you desire, but if you are honest in your efforts 

the benefits will come and you won't regret the sacrifices you have made. 

Mc: I wanted to ask you, I bel i eve that you were saying that you thought that 

Detroit had aband oned the ward system partly because they believed they 

could better control the concentration of Negr o vote. How do you feel 

a bout the ward system tod11y? 

H: Wel l, I still think there ought t o be a ward system. Most of our 

councilmen now li ve out in the west side in Ward ffe22 which is t he most 

prejudiced ward in the whole city. If you have someone who lives in the 

area who is on the Council, then he unders t and s the situ ati on and he 

isn't able to dodge issues of the Council and say now he represents all 

the peop].e. It woul d be bette r f or him to represent a definite destrict, 

and so any body living in that area havin g pr obl ems can go to somebody 

that they know ought to be concerned about it. Just like we have districts 

for Congressmen, or i n the Legislatur e, we ought to have .it f or the Common 

Council. 
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Mc: There is somewhat of a move on, isn't there, in Detroit? 

H: Every now and then--the papers don't go for it and I don't think 

the power structure is interested in it either. With the present 

situation, they can control the men that go in more than they would 

if they were in districts. 

Mc: I think some of the people who advocate the ward system also advocate 

partisan election .-of candidates. 

H: I think that's okay too; in spite of non-partisanship, the various ••• 

The mayor, for instance, belongs to the Democrats or Republicans; they 

go on record for them anyhow. They use their influence even though 

they may not do so much publicly as they otherwise wouid. But on 

the other hand, they could do a lot behind the curtain. So I think 

it's better because if they have a party, then the individual is really 

obligated to see that the program of that particular party is carried 

out. 

Mc: One of the times I find very interesting is when the Negro people began 

to desert the Republican party. What about your own politics in 1920 

when you came here? Were you an active member of a political party? 

H: Well, I've never been tied up to any party because I go by the indi­

vidual. I try to find out what has been their reputation in the past, 

not what they promise. Anybody can promise you a lot of things but what 

has been their attitude and conduct in the past and if that hasn't been 

for the best interest of all the folks, then I'm not interes t ed in them 

at all. 
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Mc: It really gives you a little more power, anyway, doesn't it, not to 

be commited in advance? 

H: Oh yes, that's true. I know when I ran for the Council one time, there 

was an or ganization that said, "Now we will underwrite your policy for 

your campai gn and guarantee yourelection. 11 I said, "What's the pricer" 

They said that "You do what we say." I said, 11You've got the wrong man; 

I don't want any office where I c~rnn.ot be free to do what I think is 

best for all the people." 

Mc: You decid~ a issues on their own merit, not because they're opposed by 

certain groups? Rev. Hill, I have not asked you about your relationship 

with the NAf~CP or your 'W<)rking with the group. You wer e president at ,one 

time? 

H: I was president at one time and at that time, each loc al or ganization 

could make its own decisions. Now, they've got to be governed by the 

main headquarters which, to me, is not fair because there is no way for 

those in New York to know the real situation in Detroit or in Chicago 

or Philadelphia and some other city. So long as the action of the NAACP 

is not contrary to the general program of the NAJI.GP, they should not be 

bound or in any way r"'·stricted and 1'1Then they are restricted naturally 

they are not as active as they were formerly. They need to have this 

freedom to meet the issues for every city which doesn't have the same 

type of problems. 'When you can meet your own problems and solve them, 

then you will get more folks who will part icipate. I think that if the 

NMCP had carried on as it ought, then it would have in the millions 

in memberships. They 've got one program that I've never approved of 
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and that's that they have each year the $100 dinner. That doesn't 

let the ordinary man feel that he is a part. I think that has 

handicapped them from gettin g many to become a part of NACCP. After 

all, to my mind, there is somethin g that's more important than just 

money: you need folks so that when you make an appeal for any kind 

of an issue, you've got people from all levels that will give their 

time and energy and make necessary sacrifices so it can be accomplished. 

Mc: I encountered t wo or three people who think like you. Ed Swan, too, 

said he re gretted policy had to be formed on high and followed so 

absolutely in the branches. 

H: That's right. That's one reason that I got out of it because I wasn't 

concerned. I don't want anybody to try to control my thinking and my 

actions as long as they're honest and sincere. 

Mc: I'm real interested in the youth section of the NAACP. Was there an 

active youth section when you were the president? 

H: There wasn't too much at that time. 

Mc : So, that I s a newer development? 

H: Yes. I think that they realize that if they can get the youth in and 

as they grow older they automatically will be a part of it. 

Mc: What were some of the enterprises that the NAACP carried on while you 

were president? Was that in the restricted covenant period when they 

were leading that fight? 

H: Well, there were J•estricted covenants and there was quite a bit of police 

;brutality goi ng on so that they would take issues there. Also they did 
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help i n the housing; for instance we used th em as the treasurer for 

our Sojourner Tr-utho 

Mc: Was that when you served? 

H: No after that. 

Mc: I see. 

H: We did that so they wouldn't have any doubt as to who was the trea surer. 

They took a stand on housing, even on education as far as that's con­

cerned, and all of the issues that were affecting the people generally. 

They would speak out and they would support it by the majori ty of the 

folks; at least politica lly they would take a stando If they thought 

some candidate was really honest in his endeavors to make our atmosphere 

one in ~hich a ll could participate, they would take a stand for him. 

Mc::: I heard your 11.ame mentioned several times when I interviewed Snow Grigsby. 

H: Yes. He is idth the post office. I remember times when I had to go to 

his rescue because the postman wasn't supposed to take part in any of 

the political problems. Yet, I think it's wrong: because a man works 

for the post office, he shouldn't be restricte d in being able to wor k 

for the man regardless of his party that he thinks will fill in best; 

but it restricted him and I think we have too much restriction in various 

areas where unconsciously the fellow in off ic e wantsto protect himself 

so he can stay in there as long as he wants, and by restrictin g folks 

who are workin g for the Government, then he is handicapping them and I 

think they're handicapping the whole country as a result. 

Mc: Mr. Grig sby told me of the activi ties of the Detroit Civic Federation 
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or maybe Civic Rights Federatio n--that tried to get a fairer share 

for the Negro employed in the government. That was just a local 

Detroit group. Are there any other ongoing local Detroit groups that 

you have worked withs I guess you've organized some yourself--Sojourner 

Truth Committee? 

H: Yes. Most of them we did if there was some youth that was mistreated 

by the police and shot, etc. Then, we would organize a committee that 

tried to see if they could get justice for the family and things on that 

orde r. There have always been something goi ng on all the time. We just 

don't have any rest. 

Mc : No, entirely slack period? 

H: That's right. 

Mc : Do you have any secrets for gett in g people to work in committees, to be 

active1 

H: I just think that if the individuals who headed it up have been honest 

in their endeavors for the community, then the folks will respond; but 

if it's somebody who has been doing one thing and just talkin g, there is 

not the support that they look for. You see, anybody can talk but it 

takes somebody who's really concerned to be willing to make sacrifi ce s. 

Back there years ago, when you took a stand, it meant your job; so unless 

the person was truly consecrated to it, why, he would hold his peace; 

today you don't have that situation. You can speak out on anything 

that you think is wrong without having a fear of losing your job~ I tell 

young people today, "If you're qualified, you can always get a job be-
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cause many doors are open now and so if you prepare yourself, you 

won I t have to do like they did years a go. 11 I heard many say, 11I can I t 

get a job because I'm a Negro. 11 I know some of the school teachers 

won't let them take Lati n , saying, they would not get anything; all they 

can do is work in houses and so they were discouraged i n many ways and 

I am very happy today about the situation that anyone who is prepared 

can find decent employment. 

Mc: I am told that some of our counselors don't reco · ·gnize that changed 

situation so well yet and so ••• ? 

H: The reason that politicians don't change as quickly as some of the 

other folks is because it all depends on who controls them if they are 

able to go into office; and the public has been the one cause everytime 

I ran for Common Council; the public made the contribution, so I didn't 

have a select group that was going to do the dictating and I think fo r 

many polit i cia ns that's t he dif f icul ty the y have t hat some of t hese 

concerns underwrite t he bi l l or make a li ber a l contribution; then you've 

always got to respect them. However, some issue comes up and they say, 

"I wouldn't do so and so; 11 there is nothing they can do unless they're 

really sincere. 

Mc: So you don't want anything that has strings on it? Conditions? 

H: No. I think the sooner we get to the place when every politician is 

free to do the thin g that he believes ought to be done regardless of 

the consequences to some grou p that has been controlling things, t he 

better. 

Mc: Would you care to make any predictio ns as to the future course of 
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inter-racial relations? 

H: Well, I think that's improved tremendously and I think it won't be 

long--well, of course, meaning by long maybe five or ten years--where 

there won't be any issue racially or nationality-wise so that all will 

feel they can participate. I notice when you take marriages: now you 

have more inter-marriages than we've ever had before and they get along 

wonderfully~ So·; we folks have come to realize all are human being s. 

I try to tell people sometime5 that there's only one race--the __ Hurqan 

Race. And of course, you know I'm opposed to this Bla ck Power they 

talk about. I tell them what you need, you don't need black power you 

need human power. If you have human power, we can work together. 

Black power can be just as destructive as some of these white powers 

have been. I f we have human power, we let the learned and the unlearned, 

the rich and the pooJ;.' all work to gether. 

He: You would seem to indicate that you find bigots not only among the 

whites but among the Negroes? 

H: Oh, yes, that's true. None of these, shall I say evil forces, are 

confined to any one group. 

Mc: Unfortuantely that's huraan too and is found in all groups? 

H: That's right. That's like they use to think that all crime was just 

commited by Negroes, but now they're finding that crime is cornmited all 

over the city in areas where there are no Negroes at all and yet they've 

got crime. So, crime is not confi ned to race or to nationality. It's 

just a human being who hasn't gotten the right training, the right 
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instruction and who ha sn 't been made aware th a t he is his brothe r 's 

kee per. That's what I tell th em i n so many pl aces t hat I tal k now. 

I say , 11You 1re your br oth er ' s keeper ; if you don ' t keep your brother, 

your brot her is n I t goi ng t o keep you. You' re riot going to be safe 

yourself. I n p?oportion as you learn by joi nifig block cl ubs and havi ng 

your church use its influence outside these four walJswhy then you're 

goi ng to benefit the comrrrunity. 11 And I think in most of our organizati ons, 

they' re beginning to realize you 1ve got to do what David said to Mi ael, 
, ~ 

lzy cup runneth over. Until it runs over, we can't help anyb ody at all 

and got to learn t o run over every time so that someone else wi ll be 

benefitted by that much benefit. 

Mc: That would be kind of a social action cre ed, wouldn ' t it? How ab out 

political acti on, are you a strong one for being registered? 

H: Oh yes, I believe i n it and I tell the folks always to register because 

it's one way to solve your problem and that is by voting. It isn't 

enough to pray. Some use to say, "I I m praying ab out it, 11 and I say, 

"That isn't enough because God said to you like he said to 

have you got in your hand, you 1ve got the _______ J. 11 

'What 

The ordinary 

person says there is no ne ed of my voting because · the whites are going 

to do what they want t o do anyhow. Yet as long as you don't do anythi ng, 

they will; but if you get out there and use your vote--remember your vote 

is just as valuable as anybody else 1s--and so in proportion as you learn 

to vote to gether as i n the case of George Crockett. I said, "Let's 

everyone of us get out there and vote and show that the power structure 

is no longer goin g to aict ate who is goin g to be in the council or as a 
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jud ge." It was the first ti me that they united and did what the papers 

were against, labor was against, the power structure was against. 

Mc: But what the the people wanted ? 

H: Yes, what the people wanted. And so in proportion they learned to use 

what they have, not just criticize and find faulto That doesn't chan ge 

conditions. 

Mc: We certainly do appreciate your being willing to talk to us about some 

of your experiences. We hope to build up a f ile on the contributio ns 

of various persons in Detroit to the welfare of the whole gr oup and 

yours would be one of the outstandin g ones. 

H: Well, any other way I can help... I want to make the commmrl.ty a 

better place for everybody and what you're tryin g to do is really 

goin g to be helpful in letting the pe ople know that these t hings don't 

come just because they want them but there is some labor that has to 

be put forth. If they would just realize li ke the farmer, it isn't 

enough to say that I want some vegetation, etc.; but you 1ve got to get 

out there and plant some seeds and then even watch it as i t grow5to 

ke ep the weeds from destroying it; if you don't do it, you won 't have 

any harvest . It isn't enought to state something but to say that I'm 

also goin g to become involved with the real solution of all our problems. 

Mc: I think that's a very good note to stop on. Thank you very much
0 


